2009

Jeffery G. Fuell v. Lorencita J. Diel (Fuell) : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

1. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to *Utah Code Ann.* 78A-4-103(2)(h) in that this appeal arises from the final judgment of the District Court, the Honorable Stephen L. Henriod presiding, which involved a domestic relations matter modifying a previously entered Divorce Decree.

2. STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

ISSUE # 1: Did the District Court err in imputing income to Petitioner?

Sub-Issues:

1.1 Did the District Court err in imputing income when there was no claim for imputation of income in the Petition to Modify? [Issue preserved: Vol. II, 39/3 - 41/20; 75/13-18¹; 98/4-22; 104/22 - 106/6; see, also, Petition to Modify]

1.2 Did the District Court err in imputing income when the issue of imputation of income was presented and referred to by Respondent for the first time during trial? [Issue preserved: Vol. II, 39/3 - 41/20]

1.3 Did the District Court allow Respondent to engage in “trial by ambush?” [Issue preserved: Vol. II, 39/3 - 4041/20]

1.4 Did the District Court err in imputing income when it refused to allow Petitioner to present rebuttal and/or impeachment evidence to the claim for imputation of income when the first time that imputation was raised was at trial? [Issue preserved: Vol. II, 39/3 - 41/20]

1.5 Did the District Court err in holding that the rule of law is that Petitioner “can choose to change his employment and his income, but he can’t do that to the detriment of his children?” [Issued preserved: holding by court not consistent with law]

¹ ### refers to page/line numbers from the Transcript of Bench Trial. Trial occurred on February 4, 2009, which is Vol. I and February 11, 2009, which is Vol. II

ISSUE # 1 DETERMINATIVE LAW: *Utah Code Ann. 78B-12-203. Hall v. Hall*, 858 P.2d 1018 (Utah App. 1993).

ISSUE # 1 STANDARD OF REVIEW: “In order to evaluate the merit of appellant's first imputation argument, we must determine whether the trial court's decision to impute income was **supported by adequate findings** in light of Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-7.5(7)(a) (1992), which reads: ‘Income may not be imputed to a parent unless the parent stipulates to the amount imputed or a hearing is held and a finding made that the parent is voluntarily unemployed or underemployed.’ (fn6) While we agree with appellee that section (7)(a) does not specifically require a trial court, in making a “finding” of underemployment, to parrot the exact language of the statute, it is well established that where a statute expressly requires a trial court to make a threshold finding before taking specified judicial action, **the trial court abuses its discretion if it proceeds without first making the legislatively mandated finding.**” [Emphasis added] *Hall v. Hall*, 858 P.2d 1018, 1024 (Utah App. 1993).

“Trial courts have considerable discretion in determining a spouse's income, and determinations of income will be upheld on appeal absent an **abuse of discretion.**” *Leppert v. Leppert*, 2009 UT App 10, p. 3 (Ct. App. Utah, January 15, 2009).

ISSUE # 2: Was the District Court’s decision to impute income supported by sufficient evidence and adequate findings? [Issue preserved: Vol. II, 39/3 - 41/20; 75/13-18²; 98/4-22; 104/22 - 106/6]

ISSUE # 2 DETERMINATIVE LAW: *Utah Code Ann. 78B-12-203. Hall v. Hall*, 858 P.2d 1018 (Utah App. 1993).

ISSUE # 2 STANDARD OF REVIEW: “When reviewing a bench trial for sufficiency of evidence, we must sustain the trial court's judgment unless it is against the

² #### refers to page/line numbers from the Transcript of Bench Trial. Trial occurred on February 4, 2009, which is Vol. I and February 11, 2009, which is Vol. II

clear weight of the evidence, or if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made.’ *State v. Larsen*, 2000 UT App 106, ¶ 10, 999 P.2d 1252 (quotations and citation omitted).” *State v. Nichols*, 76 P.3d 1174, 1178 (Utah App. 2003). [Emphasis added]

3. STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. 78B-12-203. Determination of gross income -- Imputed income.

(1) As used in the guidelines, "gross income" includes prospective income from any source, including earned and nonearned income sources which may include salaries, wages, commissions, royalties, bonuses, rents, gifts from anyone, prizes, dividends, severance pay, pensions, interest, trust income, alimony from previous marriages, annuities, capital gains, Social Security benefits, workers' compensation benefits, unemployment compensation, income replacement disability insurance benefits, and payments from "nonmeans-tested" government programs.

(2) Income from earned income sources is limited to the equivalent of one full-time 40-hour job. If and only if during the time prior to the original support order, the parent normally and consistently worked more than 40 hours at the parent's job, the court may consider this extra time as a pattern in calculating the parent's ability to provide child support.

(3) Notwithstanding Subsection (1), specifically excluded from gross income are:

(a) cash assistance provided under Title 35A, Chapter 3, Part 3, Family Employment Program;

(b) benefits received under a housing subsidy program, the Job Training Partnership Act, Supplemental Security Income, Social Security Disability Insurance, Medicaid, Food Stamps, or General Assistance; and

(c) other similar means-tested welfare benefits received by a parent.

(4) (a) Gross income from self-employment or operation of a business shall be calculated by subtracting necessary expenses required for self-employment or business operation from gross receipts. The income and expenses from self-employment or operation of a business shall be reviewed to determine an appropriate level of gross income available to the parent to satisfy a child support award. Only those expenses necessary to allow the business to operate at a reasonable level may be deducted from gross receipts.

(b) Gross income determined under this subsection may differ from the amount of business income determined for tax purposes.

(5) (a) When possible, gross income should first be computed on an annual basis and then recalculated to determine the average gross monthly income.

(b) Each parent shall provide verification of current income. Each parent shall provide year-to-date pay stubs or employer statements and complete copies of tax returns from at least the most recent year unless the court finds the verification is not reasonably available. Verification of income from records maintained by the Department of Workforce Services may be substituted for pay stubs, employer statements, and income tax returns.

(c) Historical and current earnings shall be used to determine whether an underemployment or overemployment situation exists.

(6) Gross income includes income imputed to the parent under Subsection (7).

(7) (a) **Income may not be imputed to a parent unless the parent stipulates to the amount imputed, the parent defaults, or, in contested cases, a hearing is held and the judge in a judicial proceeding or the presiding officer in an administrative proceeding enters findings of fact as to the evidentiary basis for the imputation.**

(b) If income is imputed to a parent, the income shall be based upon employment potential and probable earnings as derived from employment opportunities, work history,

occupation qualifications, and prevailing earnings for persons of similar backgrounds in the community, or the median earning for persons in the same occupation in the same geographical area as found in the statistics maintained by the Bureau of Labor Statistics.

(c) If a parent has no recent work history or a parent's occupation is unknown, income shall be imputed at least at the federal minimum wage for a 40-hour work week. To impute a greater income, the judge in a judicial proceeding or the presiding officer in an administrative proceeding shall enter specific findings of fact as to the evidentiary basis for the imputation.

(d) Income may not be imputed if any of the following conditions exist and the condition is not of a temporary nature:

(i) the reasonable costs of child care for the parents' minor children approach or equal the amount of income the custodial parent can earn;

(ii) a parent is physically or mentally unable to earn minimum wage;

(iii) a parent is engaged in career or occupational training to establish basic job skills;

or

(iv) unusual emotional or physical needs of a child require the custodial parent's presence in the home.

(8) (a) Gross income may not include the earnings of a minor child who is the subject of a child support award nor benefits to a minor child in the child's own right such as Supplemental Security Income.

(b) Social Security benefits received by a child due to the earnings of a parent shall be credited as child support to the parent upon whose earning record it is based, by crediting the amount against the potential obligation of that parent. Other unearned income of a child may be considered as income to a parent depending upon the circumstances of each case.

Renumbered and Amended by Chapter 3, 2008 General Session [Emphasis added]

4. STATEMENT OF CASE

Petitioner and Respondent were divorced and a Decree of Divorce was entered on or about September 22, 2003. The Decree awarded both parties the Joint Legal and Physical Custody of their three children. On August 6, 2007, Respondent filed her Verified Petition to Modify Divorce Decree [Addendum 1], wherein she essentially sought to have the custody Order changed and also prayed for “15. Once the custody award is modified, the child support award should also be modified to comport with the custody situation.”

Petitioner Answered and the case ultimately proceeded to Trial on February 4 and 11, 2009, before the Honorable Stephen L. Henriod. Judgment was entered on the Petition to Modify wherein the court modified custody from Joint Physical and Joint Legal and awarded Respondent, Lorencita J. Diel (Fuell), Sole Physical and Sole Legal Custody. Notwithstanding that Respondent had only prayed in her Petition to Modify that child support payment be “modified to comport with the custody situation,” the trial court disregarded Petitioner’s current income that he was earning and imputed Petitioner’s substantially higher income that he was earning at his former job that he quit approximately 2 years earlier.

In its Memorandum Decision [Addendum 2] and in justification of its decision to impute income, the trial court stated: “Mr. Fuell can choose to change his employment and his income, but he can’t do that to the detriment of his children, which is what he has done.” [Addendum 2, p. 6]. In doing so, the trial court erred in not following the dictates of the law and those requirements set forth in *Utah Code Ann.* 78B-12-203. Further, other than the evidence offered by Petitioner, there was not one iota of evidence offered by Respondent that Petitioner was voluntarily underemployed or that he quit his job to cause a detriment to his children.

Petitioner/Appellant contends that the trial court erred in imputing income at his former job's earnings and his appeal is limited to whether the trial court appropriately imputed income.

5. STATEMENT OF FACTS

During trial and for the first time, Respondent made allegations that income should be imputed to Petitioner for purposes of re-calculating child support. [Vol. I, Respondent's Opening Statement: 11/6-10]. The claim that income should be imputed or that Petitioner was wilfully under-employed was never contended by Respondent or raised by Respondent during the pendency of the action and was raised for the first time during trial. Even though Petitioner vehemently objected, the claim was allowed. Although Petitioner attempted to produce contradicting evidence and impeachment evidence, the trial court disallowed the evidence to be admitted. Petitioner claimed "trial by ambush," but the trial court allowed Respondent's attorney to proceed *to argue* that income should be imputed. As will be more fully discussed below, Respondent's attorney presented absolutely no evidence that Petitioner was voluntarily underemployed, but only argued this in his Opening and Closing Statements and argued with Petitioner in an attempt to impeach Petitioner. Respondent herself didn't even testify or allude to this contention that Petitioner was voluntarily underemployed.

MR. JOLLEY: Exhibit 8, I have next.

MR. BUHLER: I'd object to this whole thing, Your Honor. It's not been produced to me before this moment. It's not in keeping with the motion in limine. It's not in keeping with the order of the first day of this trial.

MR. JOLLEY: This is true, Your Honor. It's offered – number one, to support his testimony; number two, as a rebuttal by the contention that they've made here by offering a child support obligation worksheet based on an old job rather than his

current job. And so I believe they're making the contention that he's willfully underemployed and this rebuts that. **That contention was not made at any time during the litigation except during trial.**

THE COURT: I don't believe it's absolutely implicit in the petition to modify. The objection is sustained based on the order on the motion in limine.

MR. JOLLEY: If I could just have a clarification, Your Honor: **You're saying it's to be implied from the –**

THE COURT: **From the petition to modify –**

MR. JOLLEY: Petition to modify. I was just going to check it. I don't think – **I don't know if I could be wrong about allegation of being underemployed.**

THE COURT: Let's see it.

MR. JOLLEY: I need to look right here.

THE COURT: **Well, I think you're right. There isn't anything about his income.** There's an allegation that he's had increases since the time of the divorce. That's all.

MR. BUHLER: Well, I renew my objection on the basis of the motion in limine.

THE COURT: **Oh, the exhibit is out.**

MR. BUHLER: Okay. I don't know what we're talking about then.

THE COURT: The exhibit's out because Mr. Fuell didn't produce anything significant pursuant to the discovery requests and there was a motion and I made an order and nothing's coming in that controverts that order.

MR. JOLLEY: **But I'm controverting evidence that he's produced here at trial that wasn't produced to us prior. It's like Mr. Buhler said last time, "It's trial by ambush."** There's – we had – we weren't requested to produce medical records. **We had no – or anything dealing with a contention that he was willfully underemployed and then they come into trial and make that allegation. We had no knowledge of anything until the allegation was made here at trial.** And all I'm doing is rebutting the allegation that comes in at the last minute that's not contained in the petition and it wasn't part of this case.

THE COURT: The interrogatory request for production of documents requested everything that he had to support his financial situation.

MR. JOLLEY: Well, this –

THE COURT: Job change; this is certainly part of that package.

MR. JOLLEY: **I don't know how anybody, especially – except in retrospect – you could understand that medical**

records had to do with financial records because at some time in the future they would make an allegation of underemployment. That's all I'm saying is that we didn't find this out until then and this supports his testimony.

MR. BUHLER: But, foundationally, I want to talk to this doctor. I want to know what those said. And I want to know how things happened. I have not been given that opportunity. So as a matter of foundation – even without the motion in limine.

THE COURT: They are also excluded as hearsay. [Emphasis added]

Vol. II, 39/3 - 42/2

Petitioner explained that due to the fact that his current job would end in 2011, that he was advised to seek different employment by his doctors due to stress and that he completed an educational program to become a HVAC technician at his own expense.

Q. Okay. What was the reason for changing jobs?

A. Several reasons. One, the place was going to be closing, I think. When I was there it was like August of 2011, I think, is when they planned on a closure date and when the chemical weapons would be burned. And the other thing is I got tired of not sleeping. I'd like sleep four hours in a week when I had to go to work and the job was just too stressful. So, I'd went to school and finished school in 2005, graduated and got a diploma in 2005, and I thought that it would be a good time to change fields instead of looking for work with 1,200 other

people when it comes time for everybody to be laid off out there.

Q. Okay. And what kind of job did you do for that company?

A. I worked in between the engineers and maintenance planners and just helped them find –

Q. Okay. And you say they provided services of disposing of chemical weapons?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. And were you experiencing – were any – you indicated you couldn't sleep or you were losing sleep because of the job. What did you say about that?

A. Well, I just – I knew it was coming to an end. I started to hate going to the job. I just didn't even want to be there. So I'd went to the doctor to find out if it was just something with me, why I wasn't sleeping and stuff, and they tried to give me – they wanted to give me sleeping pills and stuff, and I don't take any sort of medication at all. And they suggested a life change. So that's what I did; changed.

Vol. II, 37/17 - 38/25

Q. So am I correct that you also changed jobs because it was recommended by your doctor?

A. They just recommended a lifestyle change.

Q. And what were your work hours at your former job?

A. I worked shift work, day shifts, and night shifts and weekends.

Q. Okay. Were they regular shifts?

A. What do you mean by –

Q. Did you have the same shift, year-in, year-out?

A. No, I changed shifts a few times.

Q. How did that effect you?

A. It's just – well, it's just hard to go from days to nights, nights to days, 12-hour shifts.

THE COURT: Well, what your attorney asked is what it was like. Tell us. How long were you on the day shift? Then when did you switch? How long did you stay on night shifts?

THE WITNESS: I never was –

THE COURT: How many hours did you work on a day when you're on a certain shift? Answer his question.

THE WITNESS: I worked 12-hour days and 12-hour nights. It went back and forth –

THE COURT: If you work days shifts, how many weeks were you on the day shift?

THE WITNESS: Well, I wasn't. It was like four days, and then I'd get like two days off.

THE COURT: Like that, or was it that?

THE WITNESS: It was that.

THE COURT: Four days on, two days off, and then you'd change shifts?

THE WITNESS: To three nights.

THE COURT: I don't know what your situation was. And based on your answers, I still don't have a clue. That's why he's asking you the questions and I'm not really satisfied with your answers.

Please go ahead.

MR. JOLLEY: Tell me what your shifts were, to the best of your recollection.

A. I worked 14 days a month. I would work four days shifts, and then – or I'd work four night shifts; Friday, Saturday, Sunday, and a Monday, and then I'd be off Tuesday morning, Wednesday and Thursday, and then go back to work Friday day shift, Saturday day shift, Sunday day shift, and then I'd have Monday off and then I would work Tuesday night, Wednesday night and Thursday night and get off Friday morning and have Saturday off, Sunday off. And then I would work Monday day shift, Tuesday day shift, Wednesday day shift and Thursday day shift, and then we'd have a seven day break before I went back to my four night shifts.

MR. JOLLEY: Okay.

THE COURT: Okay, thank you. That's what I wanted to hear.

Vol. II, 42/5 - 44/12

MR. BUHLER: So, you're certain that EG&G will close in the year 2011?

A. That was their scheduled closure date when I used to work out there. And sometimes it would come a little bit – it was never the same. Sometimes it was earlier and sometimes it was later. They always – they have a graph of when they start burning the chemical weapons. If they have a slowdown, then they extend their closure. And if they burn a little faster, then the closure date comes earlier.

Vol. II, 79/3-12

MR. JOLLEY: Did you change jobs for the purpose of avoiding any obligation to your children?

A. No, I did it for me. For my health.

Q. Okay. And did you take a pay decrease or increase when you changed jobs?

A. Decrease.

Q. Okay. And what were you making per hour at your old job?

A. \$20.80.

Q. Was there any overtime involved or extra pay because of the way you explained this shift?

A. Every time we got – yeah, we got paid a night shift differential, Sunday premiums, and eight hours of overtime every two weeks, so we got 16 hours of overtime a month.

Q. Now, in your new job, what other than the health concerns that you had – were there any other concerns – I'm sorry, the health and the fact that your job with that company would come to an end in 2011, were there any other considerations that you thought of in changing to your other job?

A. I changed jobs – I didn't want to wait five years after I graduated to look for the employment that I took my school for and it had already been three years since I graduated.

THE COURT: High school graduation (Inaudible) graduation? What?

THE WITNESS: HBAC (sic) technician.

THE COURT: Where did you go to school?

THE WITNESS: RSI Phoenix.

MR. JOLLEY: And are you now working in that field?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you intend to stay in that field?

A. Yes, I intend to stay in that field and open my own business.

Vol. II, 44/13 - 45/23

Petitioner paid for his education without any assistance from his current employer or others, which supports his claims that he undertook this action for the reasons stated by him in his testimony, which remained uncontroverted by any evidence presented by Respondent.

Finally, on the issue of changed jobs: Sir, you said you went to school?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Who paid for that?

A. I did.

Q. You're sure your company didn't pay for it?

A. Yep.

Q. Didn't pay you a nickel?

A. Not one red cent.

Q. What?

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