2009

Jeffery G. Fuell v. Lorencita Diel (Fuell) : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Fuell failed to comply with Rule 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure thus denying this Court jurisdiction to hear or consider this appeal when he filed this appeal on May 6, 2009 which is more than 30 days after the final order was entered on March 30, 2009.

Mr. Fuell stated the standard of review for his first issue to be "*whether the trial court's decision to impute income was supported by adequate findings . . .*"

A review of the record demonstrates that Mr. Fuell has failed to take any action whatsoever at the trial court level to preserve the issue of adequacy of the factual findings. Because Mr. Fuell failed to preserve the issue of the adequacy of the factual

findings as required by the Supreme Court's ruling in *438 Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, this Court must presume the trial court's factual findings are valid and the appeal of this issue must be denied.

In his second issue, Mr. Fuell challenges sufficiency of the evidence used by the court to support its imputation of income. Mr. Fuell has failed to marshal the relevant evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are clearly erroneous as required by Rule 52 of the URCP and by Rule 24 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

At trial, Mr. Fuell did not allege that he had been fired or laid off and he produced no credible evidence to support any of his claims of medical problems that might have precluded his continued employment at this former job and income, thus the finding that his change in jobs had been voluntary was sufficiently supported by the evidence presented at trial.

Mr. Fuell testified that at the time he was served the petition to modify, he had been historically making \$20.80 base pay plus substantial premiums and overtime. He also testified that nine months after he was served the petition, he took a new job where his income was reduced to \$14.00 per hour, thus the court's finding that his change in jobs had created an underemployment situation was sufficiently supported by the evidence presented at trial.

Because the Appellant's brief failed to marshal the evidence as required by Rules 52 and 24, this Court must presume the trial court's factual findings are supported by sufficient and competent evidence, thus the appeal of this issue must be denied.

ARGUMENT

Untimely Notice of Appeal

After the Findings and final Order were entered on March 30, 2009, Mr. Fuell filed no motions that would extend the time to file an appeal. Therefore, pursuant to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 4(a) Mr. Fuell's appeal from the final Order entered on March 30, 2009 must have been filed prior to the day it was filed on May 6, 2009. Because Mr. Fuell failed to comply with Rule 4, this Court does not have jurisdiction to hear or consider this appeal which should therefore be dismissed.

Imputed Income Not Pled

On appeal, Lorencita Diel is charged with failing to ask for imputed income in her petition to modify and that she raised the issue of voluntary underemployment for the first time at trial. Because Mr. Fuell failed to marshal the evidence, the appellant's brief does not tell this Court that for the 15 months immediately preceding the trial, Mr. Fuell continuously refused to provide and actively resisted every effort by Lorencita to make him provide his income information so that child support could be properly calculated. The numerous motions and orders contained within the court record provides ample indication of Mr. Fuell's continuing refusal to participate in the trial preparation process for more than one year. Finally, after the court demanded it be turned over and just a few days before the beginning of trial, Lorencita did receive a single pay stub from Mr. Fuell. With that pay stub, she received the first evidence that Mr. Fuell's new job paid him significantly less than the job he held at the time she filed her petition. The next court appearance to occur after she finally did receive the information that Mr. Fuell had reduced his income by 50%, was the opening day of trial on February 4, 2009.

Contra to the claim in Mr. Fuell's brief, that there was error by the trial court because there was no claim for imputation of income stated in the petition to modify, the court made no error in imputing income simply because Mr. Fuell did not voluntarily end his historical job at his historical income until at least nine months after the petition to modify had been served upon him. (00156 Pg 81 Ln 1-11)

Because the pretrial order from September 29, 2008 specifically listed child support obligations beginning August 2007 as an issue for trial (00111), Mr. Fuell's claim that the imputation of income was presented for the first time at trial while technically correct, is no basis for appeal simply because he created the situation by hiding his income from Lorencita until there were no more court appearances before trial started where she could make such a claim once his income was known to her.

The trial court made no error in imputing income because it was Mr. Fuell that had refused to provide the information that established he had reduced his income until several days after the final pretrial hearing of December 15, 2008, which was the last court appearance before the trial began. (00115)

The trial court did not allow Lorencita to engage in trial by ambush as claimed by Mr. Fuell. The record clearly shows that after Lorencita had provided Mr. Fuell all of her pertinent information without request, she was required to spend many months unsuccessfully trying to force Mr. Fuell to provide his basic information relevant to the issues at trial. After the Court had twice unsuccessfully ordered Mr. Fuell to provide his income information, Lorencita's efforts to gain the necessary information included a formal discovery request, followed by a Motion to Compel, followed by a Motion in Limine when Mr. Fuell continued to refuse to provide the information as ordered. The

only relevant information ever received from Mr. Fuell was a single pay stub that arrived after the last pretrial conference and even that was never indicated as a trial exhibit by Mr. Fuell as he never filed any witness or exhibit lists prior to trial. (00105 - 107, ¶1-11, 15)

Willfully hiding your financial information until after the Court has ordered that it not be introduced at trial and then crying you were not able to produce rebuttal evidence is not “trial by ambush” by any definition, nor an err by the trial court.

The trial court did not err in holding Mr. Fuell was voluntarily underemployed as the court made very adequate findings of fact as to the evidentiary basis for the imputation pursuant to UCA 78B-12-203. (127 – 128)

Adequacy of Findings Not Challenged in Trial Court

Mr. Fuell failed to challenge the adequacy of the court's factual findings in the trial court. The statement on page 5 of the Appellant's Brief, *“In order to evaluate the merit of appellant's first imputation argument, we must determine whether the trial court's decision to impute income was **supported by adequate findings** in light of Utah Code Ann. §78-45-7.5(7)(a) . . .”* demands that in order to preserve his appeal to this Court, Mr. Fuell must have challenged the adequacy of the court's factual findings in the trial Court as discussed in detail above.

Because Mr. Fuell failed to make the required challenge in the trial court, the appeal on this issue must be denied.

Failed to Marshal Facts on Appeal

As discussed in detail above, to convince this Court to overturn the trial court's decision, Mr. Fuell must marshal the evidence in support of the findings and then

demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be clearly erroneous.

The court's decision to impute income was adequately supported by sufficient evidence. On the issue of voluntary change of jobs, Mr. Fuell produced no documentary evidence and no testimony other than his own to support any of his claims of medical problems that might have precluded his continued employment at this former job and income. Mr. Fuell did respond to his attorney's leading question "*So am I correct that you also changed your jobs because it was recommended by your doctor?*" with the statement "*They **just recommended** a lifestyle change.*" (00156 Pg 42 Ln 5-7) He did indicate that he was having trouble sleeping because of the shift work, but also stated that he refused to take any medications that might help with this problem. (00156 Pg 38 Ln 17-25) That was the total sum and body of all medically oriented evidence presented by Mr. Fuell at trial concerning his physical inability to continue his historical employment.

In response to a second leading question from his attorney, Mr. Fuell also stated that "*I changed jobs - - I didn't want to wait five years after I graduated to look for the employment that I took my school for and it had already been three years since I graduated.* [from Heating and Air Conditioning school] (00156 Pg 45 Ln 3-15)

Mr. Fuell went on to testify that at the time he was served the petition to modify, he had been historically making \$20.80 base pay plus night shift differential, Sunday premiums and eight hours of overtime every two weeks. (00156 Pg 44 Ln 16 - Pg 45 Ln 2) He also testified that nine months after he was served the petition to modify his income was reduced to \$14.00 per hour at his new job. (00156 Pg 46 Ln 4-7)

Even with nothing other than Mr. Fuell's testimony, the court clearly had adequate evidence before it to determine the facts concerning Mr. Fuell's income history at his prior employment and his then current employment. Given this evidence coupled with Mr. Fuell's evasive testimony, the court made the reasonable finding of underemployment, which had been freely admitted by Mr. Fuell as having been voluntary.

Mr. Fuell's charge that the Respondent nor her attorney presented any evidence that Petitioner was voluntarily underemployed is not quite correct when considering the Petitioner's own testimony that his doctor did not recommend that Mr. Fuell change jobs, but rather the doctor "*just recommended a lifestyle change.*" (00156 Pg 42 Ln 5-7)

Mr. Fuell was not fired or laid off from his historical job where he earned more than \$20.80 (00156 Pg 44 Ln 16- Pg 45 Ln 2), but rather Mr. Fuell testified, although he had already been out of a trade school for three years, soon after he was served the petition to modify, he decided to change to a \$14.00 per hour job because he didn't want to wait five years after he graduated. (00156 Pg 45 Ln 3 –15 - Pg 46 Ln 4-7)

The claim by Mr. Fuell on page 20 of his Summary of the Argument, that the court required Mr. Fuell to essentially disprove Lorencita's allegation of voluntary underemployment rather than requiring her to provide competent evidence of his employment condition completely misses the mark of the basic mission of any trial court, that being the process of finding the truth of a given matter and then applying the law to the facts established thereby, regardless of which party testifies as to those facts. For Mr. Fuell's attorney to argue in his brief that his client was not providing "competent evidence" when testifying under oath can only mean that Mr. Fuell's attorney

disbelieves his own client's sworn testimony. Be that as it may, the trial court was clearly within its discretion to believe that Mr. Fuell told the truth concerning his employment situation thereby providing competent evidence upon which the court could properly base its decision to find voluntary underemployment as a basis to impute income to Mr. Fuell.

The argument made in the first paragraph on page 21 of Mr. Fuell's brief and again on the last half of page 27, that "*the only evidentiary basis provided by the trial court in imputing income based on voluntary underemployment was that Mr. Fuell changed jobs*" is absurd and intentionally misleading. Rather than marshal the ample evidence available in the trial record, that argument completely ignores the sworn testimony of Mr. Fuell that his voluntary change in employment reduced his income from the \$20.80 base pay plus night shift differential, Sunday premiums and eight hours of overtime every two weeks that he had historically been making to \$14.00 per hour at his new job. (00156 Pg 44 Ln 16 - Pg 45 Ln 2)

That argument also completely ignores the court's finding in its Memorandum Decision that Mr. Fuel was earning \$4,825 per month until he decided he needed a lifestyle change and took a new job earning \$2,427 per month. (00139)

Likewise, the unsupported argument on page 22 of Mr. Fuell's brief, that Mr. Fuell's change of employment "was for the benefit of his children" and the argument on page 24-25, that it would not be logical for Mr. Fuell to earn less money so he would not have to pay more child support completely belies the often demonstrated non-custodial parent's willingness to do exactly that.

If that were not true, there would be no need for a statutory definition of voluntary unemployment or voluntary underemployment. The fact that UCA 78B-12-203 has been created by the Utah legislature gives life to the fact that other parents, like Mr. Fuell, have made the decision to eliminate or reduce their income so they could pay less to support their children and/or former spouse.

In polar and direct opposition to the argument Mr. Fuell makes above, on page 29 of his brief he cites *Griffith v. Griffith* 959 P.2d, 1015, 1018 to provide the judicial explanation of the goal of imputing income to prevent parents from reducing their support obligations by purposeful underemployment. Had Mr. Fuell read the *Griffith* case he was citing to, it would be inconceivable that he could continue to make the argument in his brief that no parent could or would ever do such a thing to their family.

Mr. Fuell tries to convince this Court that based upon *Griffith v. Griffith*, the trial court was required to find that his underemployment was “purposeful” and then goes on to claim his was not “purposeful” underemployment and he should therefore prevail on appeal. However, the law in Utah does not require a finding of purposeful underemployment, but rather, in Utah before a court imputes income to a parent, UCA 78B-12-203 requires a finding of exactly what the trial court did find, voluntary underemployment. (00127-128)

Finally, Mr. Fuell’s citation to *Burningham v. Ott*, 525 P.2d 620 to support the contention that “a trial is not to be by ambush. Instead the evidence upon which one relies for judgment can be and should be known to the opponent” after he actively and adamantly refused to provide any evidence whatsoever to Lorencita for the 15 months immediately preceding trial and then complained when the exhibits he wanted to

produce for the very first time at trial were rejected by the court, completely summarizes the total lack of candor and respect Mr. Fuell has shown to the judicial system from the first day he filed his divorce complaint containing false income information through the very last page of his appellant's brief.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Fuell's demand that this Court reverse the imputation of income to him for the calculation of his child support obligation is simply not supported by his brief and therefore, must be denied.

As demonstrated above, first Mr. Fuell failed in his obligation to challenge the findings in the trial court. Then he filed an untimely appeal. Then in his appellant's brief, Mr. Fuell failed to marshal the evidence as required by the rules. This is a three strike situation where his appeal must be declared to be OUT.

REQUEST FOR COSTS

Lorencita Diel has been subject to the emotional and personal financial costs of this action for more than two years. She has been required to expend substantial amounts in costs and attorney's fees in order to conduct the trial and again now to respond to this untimely and groundless appeal. The claim that the demand for imputation of income was not included in the petition to modify, even though Mr. Fuell did not reduce his income until nine months after the petition was served upon him (00156 Pg 81 Ln 1-11) is typical of the less than honest approach taken by Mr. Fuell through out this entire divorce action, beginning with the false information about his income stated in his complaint that was carried over into the divorce decree.